
United Nations FIRST COMMITTEE, 1225th 
MEETING GENERAL 

ASSEMBLY 
SIXTEENTH SESSION 

Official Records • Monday, 18 December 1961, 
at 3.40 p.m. 

CONTENTS 
Page 

Agenda item 80: 
Question of Algeria (continued) • • • • • • • • • . 325 

Chairman: Mr. Mario AMADEO (Argentina>. 

In the absence of the Chairman, Mr. Ignacio-Pinto 
(Dahomey), Vice-Chairman, took the Chair. 

AGENDA IT£M 80 

Question of Algeria (A/4842 and Add.l, A/C.1/L.308 and 
Add.l) (continued) 

1. Mr. BITSIOS (Greece) noted that for seven years 
the world had witnessed the fierce struggle which had 
caused such great loss of life on both the Algerian and 
French sides. The losses had not for asingle moment 
weakened the Algerian people's determination to con­
tinue the struggle to the end. Its sacrifice and courage 
had won the admiration and active support of the entire 
Arab world. France, the traditional champion offree­
dom, had sacrificed the cream of its army and the 
flower of its youth in a fight from which it could not 
emerge victorious. 

2. General Assembly resolution 1514 (XV) had been 
referred to in the course of the debate, but the Alge­
rian problem was not exclusively a colonial problem: 
it had other aspects-economic, cultural and spiritual 
-which made it complex and precluded simple and 
facile solutions. If there were simply a noble impulse 
to achieve independence on one side, and a totally neg­
ative and brutal attitude on the other, the United N a­
t ions would have to try to vindicate the cause of free­
dom by bringing the full weight of world opinion to 
bear. But the broad principles of a settlement had 
already been agreed upon. France had already rec­
ognized the right of the Algerian people to self-deter­
mination. Negotiations had been begun on that basis 
and, although sporadic, had not been broken off. 
France's liberal Mrican policy, the high moral stat­
ure and determination of its Head of State, and the 
acts and official statements of its Government, be­
tokened the good faith of France and indicated that 
it was resolved to grant independence to the Algerian 
people. The absence of the French delegation was a 
matter for regret, for it might have told the Commit­
tee of the difficulties the French Government was en­
countering and inform it of its plans for the immediate 
future. 

3. He had endeavoured toshowtheobjectivitythatwas 
necessary because of the traditional friendship which 
bound his country to the Arab world and to the French 
nation. He hoped that the negotiations between the rep­
resentatives of fighting Algeria and the French Gov-

325 

NEW YORK 

ernment would be resumed as soon as possible, be­
cause the tragic events had shown that such negotia­
tions were the only way of finding a radical solution 
of the problem. 

4. Mr. ASTAPENKO (Byelorussian Soviet Socialist. 
Republics) said that ~he question of Algeria conjured 
up the tragedy of an entire people whose only wish was 
to be independent, and it also spelt a condemnation of 
colonialism and of France's monstrous colonial policy 
in regard to Algeria. One year had elapsed since the 
General Assembly had recognized, in resolution 1573 
(XV), the right of the Algerian people to self-deter­
mination and independence and the imperative need 
for adequate and effective guarantees to ensure the 
successful and just implementation of the right of 
self-determination on the basis ofrespectfortheunity 
and territorial integrity of Algeria; but the French 
Government had still failed to carry out that resolu­
tion. The scheming of the French ·colonialists con­
tinued: reassuring statements of good will, plans for 
forming a phantom Algerian government which dis­
guised their continued domination, and cynical threats 
to partition Algeria. In the meantime, moreover, they 
continued their colonial war, sparing no expense to 
safeguard the interests of the monopolies. The French 
colonialists hoped to continue to line their pockets by 
exploiting the natural wealth of the Sahara and other 
parts of· Algeria. In the Hassi Messaoud area alone, 
oil extraction had risen fivefold between 1959 and 1960, 
and by 1972 enough oil and natural gas would be pro­
dueed in the Sahara tosupplyhalftheneeds of Western 
Europe. In addition, important copper, uranium, iron 
and other mineral deposits had been discovered in 
the Sahara. 

5. The FLN and the Provisional' Government of the 
Algerian Republic had clearly done all in their power 
to reach a peaceful settlement with France. However, 
whenever the French Government, under thepressure 
of world opinion, had entered into negotiations, it had 
declined to negotiate on the only acceptable basis: rec­
ognition of the · independence and territorial integrity 
of Algeria. Previous speakers in the debate had con­
vincingly shown that the French colonialists were re­
sponsible for the failure of the Algerian-French nego­
tiations. In continuing the war, the French Government 
acted against the wishes of the peace-loving peoples 
of the world and in violation of the United Nations 
Charter, the Declaration on the granting of indepen­
dence to colonial countries and peoples (General As­
sembly resolution 1514 (XV)) and important decisions 
by the General Assembly on the Algerian question. 

6. France shared its responsibility with those who 
supported its war effort: the countries of the coloni­
alist NATO bloc and in particular the United States, 
without whom France could not have carried on its 
infamous war against the Algerian people for so many 
years. The determining factors in the position adopted 
by France, the United States and certain Western 

A/C.1/SR.1225 



326 General Assembly - Sixteenth Session - First Committee 

Powers on the Algerian question were the oil mono­
poly interests and the desire to maintain atomic bases 
in the Sahara and military bases in Algerian terri­
tory-particularly the naval base at Mers-el-Kebir­
in order to retain means of exerting military and 
political pressure on the newly independent States of 
Africa. But the national liberation movement was 
sweeping away the remnants of the colonial system 
and nothing could help France to hold the Algerian 
people in colonial bondage. Yet, though the war was 
already lost by the colonialists, they continued in 
their death-throes to commit monstrous crimes 
against the Algerian people. Indeed, the war in Alge­
ria played into the hands of the most evil forces of 
reaction, which were undermining the democratic 
rights and freedoms of the French people itself. 

7. The only way to settle the Algerian question was 
to have the French Government put an immediate end 
to the colonial war, in keeping with the legitimate as­
pirations of the Algerian people. Both sides would gain 
thereby and world peace would be considerably streng­
thened. His delegation would support any proposal that 
would contribute to the speedy and peaceful solution of 
the Algerian problem and to the exercise by the Alge­
rian people of its right to self-determination and inde­
pendence on the basis of respect for the country's 
unity and territorial integrity. 

8. Mr. SULAIMAN (Iraq) considered thatthequestion 
of Algeria, which had been before the United Nations 
since 1955, was the most striking manifestation ofthe 
historic struggle between colonialism in decay and the 
rising national liberation movement. The Algerian 
people had accepted a supreme sacrifice in order to 
enjoy the fundamental rights set forth in the United 
Nations Charter and in the Declaration on the granting 
of independence to colonial countries and peoples. 
That objective could have been attained peacefully if 
France had accepted from the outset the inevitable 
verdict of history. 

9, The FLN had sought a peaceful settlement from 
the time the revolution had started in 1954. To that 
end, it had undertaken to respect French interests and 
to settle future relationships between France and Al­
geria by agreement. Its leaders' efforts to persuade 
the adversary to negotiate had proved fruitless and 
the continuance of the war was due to France's per­
sistent refusal to negotiate a settlement of the ques­
tion. Today, after seven years of war, the position 
taken by the Provisional Government of the Algerian 
Republic was still the same. The Algerian leaders, 
while resolved on gaining independence, had tried in 
every possible way to avoid war. Three alternatives 
had been open to them: direct negotiations with France; 
attempts at settlement through the United Nations; and 
resort to force. Having failed to attain their liberty 
through peaceful means, they had had no course left 
but to keep on fighting. 

10. The Algerian leaders had done everything pos­
sible to settle the dispute by peaceful means, but their 
attempts to reach an agreement in the discussions at 
Evian and at Lugrin had been hampered bythe French 
position with regard to the territorial integrity of 
Algeria and by the French designs to partition the 
country. Despite those repeated set-backs, the Pro­
visional Government had expressed its readiness, time 
and again, to resume negotiations and it was for the 
French Government now to respond in order to bring 
an unhappy situation to an end. 

11. The Algerian leaders, having failed to induce 
France to negotiate, had turned to the United Nations, 
encouraged by the principles clearly set forth in 
Article 2 of the Charter. But their efforts since 1955 
to find a just solution through that Organization had 
been unsuccessful. France persisted in disregarding 
world public opinion and the Algerian people had no 
alternative left but to continue fighting. War had been 
waged for more than seven years with all its accom­
panying horrors and tragedies. Casualties amounted 
to one million and hundreds of thousands of Algerians 
were held in camps or prisons or had taken refuge 
in neighbouring countries. The number ofthosekilled, 
displaced, held in custody or forced to flee was more 
than a quarter of the total population. 

12. The war in Algeria was costing France $3 million 
per day. Its political impact could be judged from the 
fact that since its outbreak France had had two Re­
publics and two Constitutions. Its moral effects were 
deeply felt all over the world, including France itself. 
The atrocities committed by the French Army and 
policy had aroused indignation everywhere. France, a 
great Power, using the bulk of its army, navy and air 
force, was waging a ruthless war against a small and 
freedom-seeking nation. 

13. When, on 16 September 1959, the President of 
the French Republic, General de Gaulle, had solemnly 
recognized the right of the Algerian people to self­
determination and had affirmed that the future of Al­
geria rested with the Algerians and would be deter­
mined in accordance with their freely expressed 
wishes, the Provisional Government, with justifiable 
pride that events had taken that turn, had reaffirmed 
the primary objective of the revolution, namely, self­
determination. But, despite President de Gaulle's dec­
laration, the advocates of pacification and of a military 
solution of the Algerian problem had continued to cling 
to the myth of a French Algeria. In spite of the fact 
that both sides had been in agreement in accepting the 
right to self-determination as the basis for a solution 
of the problem, it had taken France more than a year 
and a half to recognize that the implementation of 
self-determination could not be achieved except 
through agreement with the Provisional Government, 
the sole spokesman of the Algerian people. The 1961 
referendum had proved that the Algerian people stood 
behind its Government. 

14. Despite the failure of the negotiations at Evian 
and Lugrin, those two meetings had beensignificantin 
that the French Government had finally recognized two 
facts: first, that the Provisional Government of the 
Algerian Republic was the sole authority representing 
the Algerian people; and, secondly, that the only way 
to achieve a settlement was through negotiations with 
that Government. The French delegation had reaf­
firmed at both those meetings that negotiations should 
be conducted with the FLN on the basis of self-deter­
mination. But implementation of that principle was 
still awaited. It was abundantly clear to everyone, and 
had been acknowledged by the French Government it­
self, that independence was the only possible result of 
any popular consultation. The Prime Minister of the 
Provisional Government, Mr. Ben Khedda, had there­
fore suggested, on 24 October 1961, that an immediate 
peace could be established by opening negotiations on 
the principle of independence, the procedures for put­
ting it into effect and the date of its proclamation, as 
well as on the conclusion of a cease-fire. He had 
further stated that new negotiations could follow for 
the definition of the new relationship between France 



1225th meeting- 18 December 1961 327 

and Algeria and of guarantees for the French popula­
tion of Algeria. 

15. Those proposals provided a logicalfoundationfor 
an immediate cease-fire as well as the most feasible 
way of implementing self-determination. The Provi­
sional Government was willing, if the need arose, to 
agree to a referendum, but the method suggested by 
Mr. Ben Khedda was a more realistic approach which 
would prevent further bloodshed. The proclamation of 
independence enabling a cease-fire to be speedily con­
cluded would hardly change the existing situation, as 
had been pointed out in an editorial in the newspaper 
Le Monde of 26 October 1961. It would therefore be 
better to recognize that Algeria would choose inde­
pendence and to resume negotiations with the honest 
intent of bringing the tragic war to an end. 

16. The second problem concerned the issue of Al­
geria's unity and territorial integrity. On 16 September 
1959, President de Gaulle had spoke of Algerians as 
individuals and not as a people. He had indicated that 
those who voted for integration would remain with 
France and that those voting for secession would or­
ganize themselves separately in the territories where 
they lived. In other words, the country might be par­
titioned. President de Gaulle had added that, in any 
event, French interests in the Sahara would be safe­
guarded and that arrangements would be made to en­
sure the exploitation and transport of oil. The Provi­
sional Government could not accept any solution that 
failed to guarantee its national integrity. The Sahara 
constituted 80 per cent of the Algerian national terri­
tory and the Algerian people could not surrender its 
sovereign rights over that territory merely because 
the French Government had decided in 1957, for rea­
sons of administrative convenience, to separate it 
from the rest of the country. To exclude the Sahara, 
if a plebiscite was held, would mean continuation of 
the war. France, and President de Gaulle himself, had 
admitted that, in the event of a popular consultation, 
the Sahara would vote for independence and unification 
with the rest of the country; they should therefore 
create a favourable climate by abandoning, once and 
for all, any idea of or attempt at partition. President 
de Gaulle's partition plans had been severely criti­
cized, not only by the Algerians but also by some of 
France's allies and by the French Parliament itself. 
In spite of the severe repressive measures taken by 
the French Army and police, the "National day against 
partition 11 , proclaimed throughout Algeria on 5 July 
1961 by the Provisional Government, had been clear 
proof of the determination of the Algerian people to 
resist any partitioning of its territory. Itseemedthat, 
on that point also, France's position had shifted to a 
more realistic approach, and it was to be hoped that 
the French Government would ultimately recognize, 
fully and unequivocally, Algeria's unity and territorial 
integrity, thus pavingtht~ way for a peaceful settlement. 

17. The Algerian point of view with regard to French 
atomic tests in Algeria, which coincided with world 
public opinion and the position taken by .the great ma­
jority of States, commanded support. By taking that 
attitude, the Provisional Government was joining those 
throughout the world who desired tohavenucleartests 
banned. Furthermore, the French design to keep mili­
tary bases in Algeria imperilled the country's sover­
eignty and thus created an obstacle to an over-all solu­
tion to the problem. 

18. The third problem was that of the European mi­
nority. After the conquest of Algeria, the French Gov-

ernment had resorted to colonization to secure its 
domination. At the beginning, 40,000 had been settled 
in Algeria. The French colonialists had worked out a 
scheme intended to facilitate the acquisition of land 
by Europeans. It had been estimated that the indige­
nous inhabitants had lost about 45 per cent of their 
land in that way ~etween 1881 and 1889. The number 
of European settlers had later increased to 900,000. 
The existence of that European minority had been put 
forward as a factor hindering Algerian independence, 
although the Provisional Government had solemnly 
and repeatedly declared that in the Republic of Alge­
ria there would be no distinctions based on race or 
religion and that all legitimate interests would be 
respected. That position had been reaffirmed by 
Mr. Ben Khedda, the Prime Minister, and bythe For­
eign Minister. In those circumstances, it was hard to 
~ee why that problem should be a real obstacle to 
general settlement. It had been solved in Tunisia and 
Morocco, and there seemed no reason why it should 
not be solved in Algeria. 

19. While public opinion in France, even in official 
circles, had been favourably impressed by the Alge­
rian position, it was unfortunate that a small section 
of the European minority-the "ultras "-had resorted 
to criminal acts and killings. The leaders of that cam­
paign had set up the Secret Army Organization. They 
had been condemned by France itself and were living 
underground, and many of them had been sentenced 
to death. Their atrocities had aroused the indignation 
of the Europeans themselves in Algeria, who had or­
ganized a counter-movement, which they called the 
Republican Committee of Defence. It was evident that 
it was not in the interest of either France or Algeria 
to allow the group of fascists in the Secret Army Or­
ganization to continue its criminal activities, blocking 
the road to a peaceful settlement. The softness with 
which the French Government had acted in dealing with 
the terrorist campaign had earned it serious criticism 
from the French Parliament. 

20. Another thing which must be mentioned was the 
brutality with which the French military and police 
authorities treated the Algerian nationalists in France 
and in Algeria. The atrocities committed on 1 November 
1961, the mass arrests and deportations of Algerians, 
were too recent to be forgotten. Those excesses and 
the criminal behaviour of the fascist organizations in 
Algeria could not but be prejudicial to an equitable 
settlement of the problem of the French community 
in Algeria. He believed that the generous proposals 
made by the Provisional Government of the Algerian 
Republic with regard to the European minority could 
hardly be rejected by any Government, for they pro­
vided a just and generous solution. 

21. The last problem was that of the French eco­
nomic interests in Algeria, a problem which was 
closely linked with the French design to partition the 
country and to the questionofthe European minorities. 
It was well known that the Sahara contained inesti­
mable mineral resources. Those immense sources of 
wealth explained why the French Government was at­
tempting to separate the Sahara from the rest of Al­
geria. It was unfortunate that the French authorities 
had prolonged unnecessarily the settlement of the 1 

Algerian problem by attempting unsuccessfully, on 
the one hand, to divide the ranks of the Algerian 
peop!~ and on the other, to start manreuvres with the I 
States bordering on the Sahara to gain their support 
against the position of the Provisional Government.

1 It was only after the complete failure of those at-r 



328 General Assembly- Sixteenth Session- First Committee 

tempts that the French had shown signs of a change 
in attitude. That should hasten the resumption of 
negotiations with the Provisional Government. The 
position taken up by the Algerian leaders on that 
problem had been extremely fair to France and very 
encouraging. They had recognized the existence of 
French interests in the Sahara and had stated their 
willingness to co-operate with France and to respect 
legitimate French interests. In fact, once France 
recognized the sovereignty of the Algerian people 
over its territory, including the Sahara, there did not 
seem to be any reason, taking the attitude of the Pro­
visional Government into consideration, why that prob­
lem could not be solved in the mutual interest of both 
parties. And colonial inte'rests deeply rooted in the 
best parts of Algeria, mainly in the north, had given 
rise to a similar problem. There again, the vested 
interests of a small fraction of the French minority 
in Algeria had advocated the partition of the country; 
but the Provisional Gover~ent had firmly expressed 
its readiness to recognize and respect the legitimate 
interests of the French minority. In good faith, that 
Government had declared its readiness to follow a 
policy of co-operation with France, safeguarding its 
legitimate interests and those of the French com­
munity in a sovereign and independent Algerian Re­
public. That statement should provide abasisonwhich 
negotiations could be started and the problem solved 
between the two parties. 

22. The full responsibility for the delay in the settle­
ment of the Algerian problem lay with France. The 
independence of Algeria was now an undisputed fact 
awaiting formal recognition by France. Iraq was a 
sponsor of the draft resolution (A/C.1/L.308 and Add.l) 
which called upon the two parties to resume negotia­
tions, He expressed tM hope that the draft resolution 
would be. unanimously adopted and .that Algeria would 
soon take its proper place in the family of sovereign 
and independent nations·. ' 

·.23. Mr. GARCIA INCHAUSTEGill (Cuba) saidthatthe 
struggle of the brave Algerianpeoplefortheirnational 
liberation would be an· example to the peoples still 
under the colonial yoke and to those whose indepen­
dence. was threatened by coloniil.l Powers. Until the 
revolut~o'nary Provisional GOvernment of the Algerian 
Republic had taken its place in the United Nations, all 
those who sincerely advocated independence would 
speak for it, both within and t>utside the United Nations. 

24. A small country that was not represented in the 
United Nations was struggling heroically for the prin­
ciples laid down in the Charter and for its rights which 
had been recognized. by the General Assembly, while 
a great Power, a founding Member of the United Na­
tions, by carrying on an unpopular war, was trampling 
the Charter underfoot ·and acting in defiance of the 
opinion of the majority of the Assembly, of world 
public opinion, and of its own people's best traditions. 
The colonialist ·aggression in Algeria, through seven 
long years of torture and acts of genocide by the colo­
nial Power, was a fight against all peoples, including 
the French. That was a situation which endangered 
world peace and seriously jeopardized the prestige 
of the United Nations, 

25. Throughout the struggle, the Provisional Govern­
ment had shown its wil1ingtless to put an end to the war. 
After first refusing to participate in preliminary talks, 
the French Government had later decided to open them 
and then had broken them off. The disagreement be­
tween the two Governments now 'appeared to relate to 

the following points: the so-called question of the Euro­
pean minority and that of the territorial integrity of 
the new State. If the argument adduced in connexion 
with the first point was taken seriously, no country 
that had been colonized could ever become independent, 
for there would always be aEuropeanminorityto pro­
tect. The generous decision of the Algerians to offer 
the nationality of the new State to the Europeans who 
decided to opt for it rendered that argument untenable. 
As for the second point, the colonialists were at their 
old game Of trying to reserve for themselves part of 
the territory of an independent country, naturally the 
part richest in mineral and power resources. That 
phenomenon, only too well known in colonial disputes, 
had produced the fiction of the French Sahara, by 
which neo-colonialist rule in the territory was to be 
maintained. 

26. Many ofthe Governments represented on the Com­
mittee, including the Cuban Government, recognized 
the Provisional Government of the Algerian Republic, 
and it had been represented at the Conference of Heads 
of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries held 
at Belgrade in September 1961, at which the right of 
the Algerian people to independenpe and territorial 
integrity had been proclaimed. By holding discussions 
with the Algerian leaders on ways of ending the war, 
France itself had officially recognized the existence 
of the new State. 

27. The war in Algeria, which was a world problem, 
was also a threat to French institutions. That was why 
negotiation, which was always a step towards peace, 
would be preferable for all concerned, particularly 
France. The Cuban delegation therefore urged all rep­
resentatives to vote for draft resolution A/C.1/L,308 
and Add.1. That text, which had been carefully worked 
out, was the minimum supportthat could be given to 
those, both in France and in Algeria, who were striv­
ing to settle the dispute by peaceful means and in ac­
cordance with the purposes of the United Nations. 

28, Algeria should serve as a lesson for France and 
for all the colonialist Powers. A small country fighting 
for its independence could not be destroyed, however 
powerful its adversaries. The more the colonialists 
persisted in trying to destroy national liberation move­
ments, the more they made themselves ridiculous in 
the eyes of the world, despite their armies, their mili­
tary bases, their aircraft and their nuclear bombs. 

29. Mr. AKAKPO (Togo) recalled that the members 
of the Committee were asking for the seventh tiine 
for an end to the Algerian war, which was a constant 
source of anxiety to the public throughout the world, 
There now seemed to be a better atmosphere and 
every reason to hope that theendofthe Algerian trag­
edy was in sight. No one disputed the Algerian people's 
right to independence any longer. President de Gaulle 
had decided upon independence, his Government had 
endorsed it, his Parliament had approved it and the 
French people had ratified it. It was true that the 
actual granting of independence had been delayed and 
the difficulties which President de Gaulle had encoun­
tered in the process of achieving that objective were 
well know; but the skill with which he had recently 
sought to overcome those difficulties had also been 
demonstrated. 

30. One of the obstacles which had led tothe suspen­
sion of the Lugrin negotiations was the question of the 
Sahara. That obstacle also seemed to have been over-

. come, for President de Gaulle had in fact recognized 
that the Sahara was Algerian when he had stated, on 



1225th meeting- 18 December 1961 329 

5 September 1961, that there was not one Algerian who 
did not believe that the Sahara should be a part of 
Algeria. 

31. So far as the question of the minority was con­
cerned, his delegation thought that the Algerian nation 
should be a single nation, like all other nations. Mi­
norities could be integrated into the nation; the mem­
bers of a minority could become citizens of the State 
and take part in the exercise of the State's sovereignty 
or they could retain the citizenship of their country of 
origin and remain aliens in the nation. That alterna­
tive was the same everywhere. It was a question for 
the minorities themselves to decide and no one could 
decide it for them. 

32. His delegation believed that France sincerely 
desired to reach a speedy settlement. It hoped that the 
negotiations, which had been interrupted several times, 
would be resumed as quickly as possible under favour­
able auspices and would reach a solution which would 
satisfy all the aspirations of the Algerian people. 

33. Mr. USHER (Ivory Coast) noted that, while the 
Algerians had been struggling to achieve independence 
for almost eight years, nearly twenty countries, prac­
tically all of which had had the same metropolitan 
country, had peacefully gained independence, a fact 
which could only increase the very understandable im­
patience and passionate feelings of the Algerian pa­
triots. Algeria was undergoing a slow and difficult 
period of decolonialization due to the fact that it was 
a colony of settlement. Some of the countries of Cen­
tral Africa which had suffered the same misfortunes 
seemed to face an uncertain future; others seemed to 
have lost control of their affairs forever because Euro­
pean minorities had settled there. In Algeria that dif­
ficulty was complicated by the legal fiction that Alge­
ria was a province of France. Nevertheless, while 
there could be no doubt about Algeria's ultimate inde­
pendence, certain other colonies, about which the 
same legal fictions had been created,presentedavery 
gloomy and uncertain future outlook for Africa. French 
colonial policy had not been fully appreciated up to 
1956 because it seemed to be as unstable as the French 
Governments. While in 1944 General de Gaulle had 
declared that the goal of that policy was self-deter• 
mination, other no less important politicians had said 
that France must hold on to its colonies not only be­
cause they were a legacy of the past and the French 
had no right to abandon an inheritance conquered by 
their fathers with so much toil and bloodshed, but 
also because the colonies might be the resource of 
the future for France. That had been the era of as­
similationist policy, the policy of the French Marxists 
with its accompaniment of repression and war in 
Indo-China, Madagascar, the Ivory Coast, Tunisia, 
Morocco and Algeria. It was paradoxical that it had 
been the semi-bourgeois governments which had begun 
the process of decolonization by stopping the war in 
Indo-China and granting independence to Tunisia and 
Morocco. A few years later, a Minister, the son of a 
French lawyer of the Ivory Coast, had, by the "loi­
cadre" of 23 June 1956, drawn attention to the need 
for decolonizing Africa. The assimilationist Gover­
nors-General, however, victimized by the extremist 
upholders of French Algeria, the "ultras", had com­
mitted France to an unrelenting war against the Al­
gerian nationalists. 

34. But the resistance of the nationalists had exas­
perated the "ultras", who had laid the blame on the 
parliamentary system. Then, on 13 May 1958, the 

Fourth Republic had died, ~he Fifth Republic had been 
born, and an appeal had been made to the man of the 
hour, General de Gaulle. 

35. General de Gaulle was a nationalist; he was a man 
of his word, of sincerity and good faith; he was the 
man of Brazzaville. In one of his first post-war 
speeches, delivered at Bordeaux, he had said: "It is 
for each territory to discover itself and to organize 
itself in its own interest." The organizations of the 
left had then placed their own construction on those 
words, depicting General de Gaulle as a despicable 
racialist. He had, however, granted independence to 
Syria and Lebanon and had stated, on 25 October 1944, 
that French policy consisted in leading each of the 
colonial peoples to a stage of development which 
would enable them to administer, and later to govern, 
themselves. It could be seen, with a little hindsight, 
that the famous pronouncement of Bordeaux had been 
only a rough adumbration of the principle of self­
determination. If General de Gaulle had not been 
forced into retirement in 1946, he might have shown 
France to the world in a different light. There might 
not have been an Indo-Chinese or Algerian war. 

36. It was because this conflict, which the President 
of the Republic of the Ivory Coast called a "Franco­
French" conflict, had shown signs of degenerating into 
civil war and of dismembering the French nation that 
General de Gaulle had been called back to power on 
13 May 1958. In contrast to his predecessors, who had 
decided not to fight on two fronts but first to wipe out 
the Algerian nationalists while turning a blind eye to 
the extremists, President de Gaulle had decided to 
fight on all fronts at the same time: against the ex­
tremists in France and in Algeria, against the disaf­
fected military and against the nationalists. To counter 
the extremists1 slogan of "French Algeria" he had 
retorted with the slogan "Algerian Algeria" and, from 
then on, the battle joined between him and those who 
had supported him on 13 May had become a fight to 
the death. He had told the French of Algeria on 
29 August 1959: "The Algerians will work out their own 
destiny: that is necessary." He had ordered the mili­
tary to terminate the "pacification" and had stated 
that the Algerians would then decide their own fate. 

37. So far as relations with the FLN were concerned, 
President de Gaulle had 'Qeen the first French official 
in a responsible position to recognize its members as 
soldiers and to take note of their legitimate claims. 

38. It was clear from President de Gaulle's press 
conference of 5 September 1961 that no major obstacle 
to a final settlement remained. President de Gaulle 
had said: 

"Our objective is not at all one of retaining the 
political, administrative and economic responsibility 
for Algeria. That particular policy ••• would today 
be vain and anachronistic, and we donotbelieve that 
the interest, the honor and the future of France 
should be, in this present era, based on continuing 
the domination of populations the great majority of 
which are not of its people and which everything 
impels and will impel on an increasing scale to be­
come free and be their own masters." 

So far as co-operation was concerned, President de 
Gaulle had said: " ••• co-operation is by no means nec­
essary to us; wewantitonlytothe extent that it means 
exchange and understanding". In regard to the Sahara, 
he had said that there was not one Algerian who did 
not believe that the Sahara should be a part of Algeria 



330 General Assembly - SiXteenth Session - First Committee 

and that there would not be a single Algerian Govern­
ment which would not be obliged insistently to claim 
Algerian sovereignty over the Sahara. 

39. Objectively speaking, if the few imperialists still 
remaining in the United Nations spoke the same lan­
guage, the General Assembly would not have needed to 
adopt resolution 1514 (XV) on decolonization. Colo­
nization was the canker of a century; it was a mis­
fortune; but, just as the colonized did not feel re­
sponsible for the fact that their ancestors had not 
resisted colonialism to the last man, it would be 
simple honesty not to blame those misfortunes on the 
colonialists of the present generation to the extent 
that they had decided upon decolonization. Centuries 
of colonialism had undoubtedly created certain rights 
which complicated the process of decolonization; those 
acting in good faith should be helped; they should 
be encouraged to decolonize not by vilification or 
demagogic outbursts but by constructive proposals 
which could accelerate the decolonization process. 
Mr. Houphou~t-Boigny, the President of the Republic 
of the Ivory Coast, had emphasized that point on 
3 January 1961, when he had told the National Assem­
bly: "It is because we sincerely love all our Algerian 
brothers, those who are fighting and those who are 
not taking part in the fighting, because we understand 
them, because we also love the people of France, that 
we consider that we have no right to be content with 
facile positions which are but cowardly solace; on the 
contrary, we believe that we must continue without 
flagging to exhort both sides, and especially France, 
to do everything possible to achieve Algerian self­
determination in 1961 at the latest." 

40. France could not ignorethemortaldangerthreat­
ening Mrica as a result of the prolongation of the Al­
gerian war; nor could it ignore the tragic position in 
which it would place the Mrican peoples if, for some 
unfortunate reason, there was no response to their 
appeal for peace, negotiation and the democratic ap­
plication of the principle of self-determination. It 
could not continue to let twelve countries, which sought 
only to co-operate with it, be unjustly regarded as 
contributing to a situation which there was an im­
perative duty to bring to a speedy end. It was impos­
sible that France should fail to understand the Mrican 
peoples. But neither could any sincere friend of France 
and Algeria fail to appreciate the indisputable fact 
that the Head of the French State had recently brought 
the "Franco-French 11 debate into the context of the 
Algerian problem. 

41. If, as he had recently indicated, President de 
Gaulle intended to relinquish power if the great ma­
jority of the French people did not support him in his 
policy of self-determination for the Algerian people, 
that decision would be fraught with consequences which 
should frighten those who truly desired peace. 

42. His delegation wished to point out in a friendly 
spirit to the Algerian people, whose impatience was 
perfectly understandable, that there were two major 
snags which had to be avoided: internationalization of 
the conflict and the degeneration of the "Franco­
French 11 controversy into a tragic "Algero-Algerian" 
conflict. 

43. The parties appeared to have adopted the method 
of secret negotiations in order to avoid arousing pas­
sions and in order to avoid the excessive publicity 
which had caused the previous talks to fail. The Gen .. 
eral Assembly should therefore have sought to avoid 
doing anything which would aggravate the problem and 

saying anything likely to ruffle anyone's feelings and 
compromise the negotiations. 

44. The newspaper ~frique-Action of 13-19 December 
1961 had published an interview with President de 
Gaulle, in which he had said that the problem of sub­
version-the Salan venture-would resolve itself once 
the fighting and revolt had ceased, and that the prob­
lem of the remnants of "French Algeria 11 resistance 
could no doubt be settledinco-operationwiththe FLN. 
It was such co-operation that the Government of the 
Ivory Coast earnestly desired, and not an internation­
alization of the conflict which would lead to the per­
manent partition of Algerian territory. 

45. His Government wished to assure its Algerian 
brothers of its sincere hope that all the efforts applied 
by the Governments of the various countries through­
out the world to help themwouldresultin the indepen­
dence and unity of Algeria. However, his country, 
which had adopted the most thankless approach-direct 
contact-would continue to use that method in the belief 
that it too was helping its Algerian brothers and Mrica. 

46. Mr. CHEHLAOUI (Syria) said that the Algerian 
cause no longer needed to be defended. The sufferings 
and martyrdom of an entire people had opened the 
eyes of the whole world. His country had espoused 
the Algerian cause from the very outset, even before 
any Algerian question had existed. It was Syria that 
had offered asylum to those who, after fighting hero­
ically against colonialism, had been overcome by weight 
of numbers, and the descendants of the great Abd-el­
Kader and of his companions in misfortune still found 
a home and a refuge there. 

47. The United Nations and all its Member States 
desired to contribute to a peaceful solution of the Al­
gerian problem. The Algerian leaders themselves had 
hoped for and sought a peaceful solution. Not a single 
fact could be adduced which cast any doubt on the good 
faith of the Algerian representatives. The latter had, 
in fact, made many concessions in order to achieve a 
peaceful solution. For years the world had followed 
with anxiety and sympathy the heroic struggle of a . 
people which one of the most powerful regular armies 
had been unable to conquer. President de Gaulle him­
self had finally·made concessions also. Initially, those 
concessions had been more in the nature of encourage­
ment. At that time French public opinion had perhaps 
not yet been sufficiently prepared for the relinquish­
ment of Algeria and much further suffering had been 
necessary before a large sector of the public had rec­
ognized the right of the Algerians to self-determina­
tion. However, substantial progress had been made 
towards the settlement of the Algerian question. 

48. Some difficulties nevertheless remained, and two 
of them-the Sahara and the question of the European 
minorities-deserved particular attention. Those two 
questions appeared to have been the main reason why 
negotiations between the parties had been broken off, 
as it was impossible for the Provisional Government 
of the Algerian Republic to compromise on either of 
them. There could be no question of splitting up Al­
geria, as that country was one and indivisible, and the 
Sahara formed an integral part of Algeria. Certain 
French administrative decisions taken some years 
before could in no way alter that fact. On the other 
hand, the Algerians had indicated that they were pre­
pared to recognize certain French interests in the 
Sahara, in order to facilitate discussion of the whole 
Algerian problem, by linking the question of the ex­
ploitation of resources with that of sovereignty. But 



1225th meeting- 18 December 1961 331 

the French had refused to deal with this problem and 
had implied that the question of the Sahara should not 
be discussed until an Algerian State had been set up 
which would be only one-fifth the size of the present 
Algeria. 

49. The second difficulty delaying a solution of the 
Algerian problem was the future of the European mi­
norities in Algeria. What guarantees would they be 
offered on the day Algeria became independent? Since 
1954, the FLN had endorsed the principle that they 
should be able to choose between Algerian citizenship 
and alien status. It should be recognized that the Al­
gerian leaders had shown a very noble attitude to­
wards those who had always lived on Algerian soil, 
enjoying advantages from which the Algerians them­
selves had been excluded. The question of the Euro­
pean minorities in an independent Algeria appeared 
easy to solve provided the French authorities really 
believed in the good faith of the Algerians and their 
repeated solemn declarations. There could be no 
question as to their good faith, and it was to be hoped 
that an agreement might soon be reached between 
the parties. 

50. It was difficult to believe that a small group 
which was opposed to any suggestion of peace should 
have the upper hand and plunge Algeria once again 
into an interminable war. A solution imposed by force 
could not bring peace to Algeria. Its people, which had 
already fought for seven years, would not give up the 
fight. Moreover, it was obvious that nothing could 
withstand the forces of national liberation andAlgeria 
was no exception to that rule. Since a military victory 
by the French Army was impossible, the voice of 
reason should be heeded, the facts should be accepted 
and the problem should be settled peacefully. A peace­
ful solution was desirable, possible and necessary. It 
could be achieved by direct negotiations between the 
French Government and the Provisional Government 
of the Algerian Republic. Negotiations had takenplace 
in 1961. However, notwithstanding the patience and 
wisdom shown by the Provisional Government, the 
French attitude at Evian and at Lugrin was scarcely 
of such a nature as to facilitate a settlement of the 
dispute. Algeria could not be expected to sacrifice 
four-fifths of its national territory, nor could the 
Algerians be expected to accept the creation of a 
State within their State by granting excessive priv­
ileges to a minority. 

51. It appeared at present to be unanimously agreed 
throughout the world that negotiations should be re­
sumed, yet the negotiations had been suspended for five 
months. The Prime Minister of the Provisional Gov­
ernment, Mr. Ben Khedda, and his colleagues had, on 
several occasions, made specific proposals for there­
sumption of negotiations. On the French side, several 
similar statements had been made. Unfortunately, 
statements were not enough. What was expected ofthe 
French Government was action: in other words, that 
it should forego certain demands which were incom­
patible with Algerian territorial integrity and the prin­
ciple of the unity of the Algerianpeople.It was also to 
be hoped that serious efforts would be made to elimi­
nate the obstacles in the way of successful negotiations. 
The complete elimination of certain secret organiza­
tions should be ensured, as that would prevent the 
murders of Algerians which were still being commit­
ted openly before the almost indifferent eyes of the 
authorities. 

52. The negotiations should be resumed and it was 
the duty of the United Nations to insist on their re­
sumption. The negotiations should lead to France's 
unconditional recognition of Algerian independence 
which, so far as the majority of mankind was con­
cerned, was an established and undeniable fact. The 
Provisional Government was already a member of 
the family of Arab and of African-Asian nations and, 
at certain international conferences, the Algerian 
people had already occupied the seat to which they 
were entitled. He trusted that France would heed the 
voice of mankind which appealed to it to negotiate and 
to make a potent contribution to the restoration of 
peace in Algeria. It was to be hoped that the represen­
tatives of Algeria would take their place in the Gen­
eral Assembly at the next session. 

53. Mr. BENHIMA (Morocco) noted that most repre­
sentatives were agreed that the settlement of the 
Algerian problem had reached a decisive phase. It 
was not the first time the forecasts had been optim­
istic and both sides had seemed equally sincere in 
their intentions but, on the present occasion, there 
were many signs which encouraged the hope that the 
headlong rush of war would be replacedbythe orderly 
progress of peace. Moreover both parties seemed to 
realize that agreement was necessary and serious 
negotiation inescapable. 

54. Although the principle of self-determination had 
been qualified by several limitations in President de 
Gaulle's statement of 16 September 1959, the Provi­
sional Government of the Algerian Republic had ac­
cepted that statement as a positive basis for honest 
discussion which might lead to a settlement. The prin­
ciple had been subjected to steady attrition in many 
subsequent statements but the Provisional Govern­
ment, in its anxiety to miss no opportunity of peace, 
had decided to rely on Presidsnt de Gaulle's original 
attitude. 

55. Meanwhile some French elements, with the con­
nivance of governmental and military circles, had 
launched a systematic campaign against everything 
which brought the French Government and the Provi­
sional Government closer to a positive outcome. It 
must be acknowledged that neither President de Gaulle 
nor the Provisional Government had allowed them­
selves to be swayed by the activities of those ele­
ments; on the contrary, they had begun talks at Evian 
on a better-defined and more satisfactory basis. The 
preparations for that meeting, the exclusion of any 
preliminarieEJ which might have held up the negotia­
tions, and the choice of representatives on either side 
had beyond question augured well for the establish­
ment of a peace based on justice and co-operation. 
Unfortunately it seemed that the French Government 
had not really wished to go further than a direct ex­
ploration of the Provisional Government's intentions, 
since the position to which it had clung had systemat­
ically excluded a number of basic principles that must 
be recognized before peace could be restored. The 
French delegation had been responsible for the sus­
pension of< the talks at Evtan, for the Algerians had 
been unable to agree that the negotiations should relate 
to only a part of their territory, the economy of which 
was to be dependent on France, or that a privileged 
minority should be allowed to control the destiny of 
the Algerian people. They hadtakentheviewthat there 
could be no cease-fire before a political agreement; 
and no political agreement could have been concluded 
without first spelling out what self-determination 
meant and what guarantees were to protect it. No one 



332 G~neral Assembly- Sixteenth Session- First Committee 

had challenged the legitimacy of the Algerian attitude. 
The French Government itself had been careful to ex­
plain the suspension of negotiations by the need for a 
period of reflection. 

56. The Provisional Government had continued to 
hope for a further meeting which' might be more con­
structive and, when President de Gaulle had stated 
that no one thought of questioning Algerian sover­
eignty over the Sahara, conditions had appeared fa­
vourable to a resumption of negotiations. The Provi­
sional Government, for its part, had been ready to 
make substantial concessions on all the points at issue. 
Unfortunately the optimism which had ushered in the 
talks at Lugrin had soon evaporated. France had re­
mained intransigent on certain vital questions, includ­
ing that of the Sahara. Obviously, a people who had 
struggled many years for independence wanted to re­
cover their homeland exactly as it had been wrested 
from them by conquest. Moreover it had been solemnly 
proclaimed that countries recovering their indepen­
dence should resume the exercise of their sovereignty 
over the whole territory in which the colonizer's writ 
had run. While refusing to lend itself to intrigue, the 
Provisional Government had never contemplated re­
fusing to co-operate in the exploitation and develop­
ment of the wealth of the Sahara, provided that such 
co-operation did not prejudice its exclusive sover­
eignty. The resources of the Sahara were more than 
sufficient for Algeria's needs and would remain, for 
some years to come, morethansufficientforthe needs 
of the nearest African countries. The exploitation of 
such wealth would require financial and technological 
investment which, again, exceeded the capacity of the 
African countries. It was logical, therefore, to make 
use of the various forms of co-operation which would 
enable Europe and Africa to take full advantage of 
such exploitation. On the other hand Algeria could no 
more agree than could other African countries that 
France should continue to test atomic and ballistic 
devices in the Sahara. Furthermore, if France exer­
cised any sovereignty over the Sahara it would use it 
to keep apart the two parts of the African continent, 
which had a common destiny and a community of in­
terests. Instead of constituting a link between North 
Africa and the rest of the continent, the Sahara would 
become a bastion for foreign military bases designed 
to hold a permanent threat over the independent states 
of the Afrtcan continent. 

57. The problem of the European minority obviously 
could not be approached from the standpoint of his­
torical notions closely bound up with conquest, occu­
pation and the entrenchment of excessive privileges. 
However, the Provisional Government had always 
solemnly proclaimed that, inadditiontotheguarantees 
conferred by international law on all foreign nationals 
in a given country, independent Algeria would uncon­
ditionally offer citizenship to all who might wish to 
live in its territory. 

58. The difficulties which had arisen during the most 
recent negotiations had crystallized about another vital 
point. The two parties had agreed on self-determina­
tion and on the procedure for the referendum, but 
France had claimed the right to retain sovereignty 
and responsibility for law and order during the in­
terim period; that was incompatible with the exigencies 
of the situation created by seven years of war which 
had ranged the French Army against the Algerian 
people. 

59. In the Moroccan delegation's opinion no purpose 
would be served-other than that of building up illu­
sions and producing greater disappointments-by hold­
ing more and more meetings in order to chalk up more 
and more failures and blame them on the other side. 
His delegation continued to hope that the French Gov­
ernment and the Provisional Government would re­
sume their talks without delay, but it coupled that wish 
with an urgent appeal to the French Government to 
follow up its own statements and bring its working 
attitude into line with its official proclamations. Inde­
pendence accompanied by partition was unthinkable, 
and independence was incompatible with co-sover­
eignty and the preservation of minority privileges. 
Without underestimating the difficulties faced by Pres­
ident de Gaulle in pursuing his policy, or the forceful 
attitude with which he had met them, it was natural 
to feel alarmed at certain recent plots which had re­
sulted in a resurgence of racism and acts of violence 
and terrorism in Algeria. It was difficult to over look 
the fact that responsibility for the existence of the 
Secret Army Organization lay with the French Gov­
ernment itself. It was no secret to anyone that the 
leaders of that movement and the paid assassins they 
recruited were known to the French Government and 
that their networks, financial resources and contacts 
abroad had been exposed. Yet no serious action had 
been taken against them. A Government which could 
mobilize 800,000 men and a powerful police force 
against the Algerian people could not plead inability 
to neutralize a handful of cashiered officers and 
politicians. The greatest asset of the Secret Army 
Organization was the deterioration of the political 
situation in France as a result of the climate kept in 
being in Algeria by the prolongation of the conflict. 
The most powerful weapon to use against it would be 
the speedy resumption of negotiations and the estab­
lishment of peace. In fact, the problem cal:ne down to 
the question of how sincere the French Government 
was, and how real its desire for peace. 

60. The Provisional Government was waging war and 
seeking peace with a unity of purpose which both sup­
plied its strength and offered France the opportunity 
to end the war with the Algerian power which was 
waging it and to build peace with the only power which 
could guarantee it, It was vain to seek any dissension 
among the leaders of the Provisional Government; 
their unity had withstood everits and intrigues, and 
the five Ministers imprisoned by the French Govern­
ment saw eye to eye with the other five who were 
negotiating with it. If the French Government recog­
nized that fact, new negotiations would have great 
prospects of success. The Algerian people had proved 
that, whatever the hardships of revolution, they were 
willing that several years of struggle and suffering 
should end in a compromise. At a time when everyone 
hoped that peace was near, it would have been appre­
ciated if the representative of France had been present 
in the Committee to announce, on b.ehalf of his Gov­
ernment and people, that France also shared that wish. 

61. The Moroccan delegation had joined with other 
delegations in submitting a draft resolution (A/C.l/ 
L.308 and Add.1) designed to give positive expression 
to the Committee's unanimous view on the Algerian 
question. The text contained references to previous 
decisions, including General Assembly resolutions 
1514 (XV) and 1573 (XV), and a paragraph regretting 
the suspe;nsion of negotiations, in order to make it 
quite clear that no real negotiations were currently 
in progress. 



1225th meeting - 18 December 1961 333 

62. In reply to certain representatives, he stated that 
the appeal in the draft resolution was aimed at bring­
ing the two parties together in bilateral negotiations, 
and not within the framework of the United Nations. 
So far as the expression "Provisional Government of 
the Algerian Republic" was concerned, he noted that 
the delegations which had submitted the draft reso­
lution represented Governments which had recognized 
the Algerian Provisional Government and which con­
sequently found it logical to call that Government by 
its name. Some representatives had seemed sur­
prised that the draft resolution pressed the question 
of the territorial integrity of Algeria, which they said 
France had never challenged, while no mention was 
made of the guarantees claimed by the European mi­
nority. It should be noted in that regard that all dele­
gations which had upheld the point of view of the Pro­
visional Government had done so on the basis of the 
statements made by Algerian ·spokesmen both before 
and after the negotiations; in those statements, the 
rights of the minority had been officially recognized, 
and specific guarantees had been proposed to the 
French delegation during the bilateral negotiations. 
It was unnecessary to refer in the draft resolution to 
guarantees which had already been accorded to the 
French Government, since the latter did not recognize 
the right of those offering such guarantees to invoke 
them in the United Nations. 

63. He urged the Committee to subscribe to the ap­
peal, which would be the expression of the general 
desire to see peace achieved through direct negotia­
tions between the French Government and the Provi­
sional Government. 

64. Mr. HASEGANU (Romania) stated that if the Al­
gerian question did not find a solution consistent with 
the legitimate aspirations and interests of the Alge­
rian people and if the colonialist war continued in 
Algeria, international peace and security might be 
endangered. 

65. Under resolution 1573 (XV), the General Assem­
bly had recognized the Algerian people 1 s right to self­
determination and independence; it had also recog­
nized that the United Nations was competent to deal 
with the· question and that it had a responsibility to 
contribute towards its just solution. Unfortunately, 
the French Government had ignored that resolution, 
just as it had ignored General Assembly resolution 
1514 (XV) on the granting of independence to colonial 
countries and peoples. As a result,thewarin Algeria, 
now more than seven years old, continued to claim 
new victims, arousing profound concern throughout 
the world and even in France, where an ever-widening 
segment of public opinion was speaking out for the 
cessation of that ridiculous war and for the granting 
of independence to the Algerian people. 

66. President de Gaulle himself, in his speech of 
2 October 1961, had stated that the aim of French pol­
icy iii Algeria was the exercise by the Algerians of the 
right to determine their own fate, the establishment, 
if they so wished, of an independent and sovereign 
Algerian state through self-determination, and the 
co-operation of France with the new Algeria for its 
existence and development, which implied, in partic­
ular, that the community of European origin in Alge­
ria would have its rights and guarantees. Nevertheless, 
no agreement had yet been reached between the two 
parties. The negotiations initiated in the first half of 
1961 had failed because of different interpretations of 
the· ideas of Algerian "independence", "self-determi-

nation" and "integrity". Doubts had even been cast on 
the representative character of the Provisional Gov­
ernment of the Algerian Republic. But the actions on 
the field of battle and the great popular demonstrations 
had proved to the whole world that the FLN and its 
embodiment, the Provisional Government of the Alge­
rian Republic, were the only political force which had 
the confidence and support of the majority of the Al­
gerian people. 

67. The peaceful solution of the Algerian question 
was prevented by the desperate opposition of a small 
group of colonialists and militarists strongly supported 
by the French and foreign monopolies which control­
led the natural wealth of Algeria. The colonial war in 
Algeria was also financed by the military bloc of 
NATO, and first and foremost by the United states 
and West Germany. The military assistance extended 
to France by the United states during the past ten , 
years, for example, exceeded $4,500 million, and 
Senator Humphrey had acknowledged in the United 
States Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs, on 15 
June 1961, that American equipment had been used 
by French troops in Algeria. The fact that 14,000 
German soldiers, most of whom were former SS-men 
of Hitler's army, were serving in the Foreign Legion 
was also significant. During the past year, an added 
factor had been the development of a terrorist move­
ment which, through its attacks and murders, sought 
to prevent the solution of the Algerian question. That 
movement, of typically fascist origin, represented a 
grave danger not only to the Algerian people but to the 
French people also. Its object was first to prevent 
at all costs any negotiations between the French Gov­
ernment and the Provisional Government and later to 
extend the military and fascist dictatorial regime to 
France. That view was held by Mr. de la Malene, 
French Secretary of state for Information, as reported 
in Le Monde on 5 December 1961. 

68. The Romanian Government advocated the effective 
implementation of the principle of self-determination 
in Algeria and in all other states which were still under 
colonial domination, and respect for the unity and ter­
ritorial integrity of those States, in the interests of 
world peace. It believed that the Algerian war could be 
brought to an end through direct negotiation between 
the French Government and the Provisional Govern­
ment of the Algerian Republic. It expressed the hope 
that in that way the Algerian people would be able to 
win its sovereignty and independence without delay 
and that it would be possible, at the seventeenth ses­
sion of the General Assembly, to welcome the Alge­
rian Republic into the United Nations. His delegation 
would vote for the draft resolution before the 
Committee. 

69. Mr. DE LEQUERICA (Spain) recalled that his 
delegation had always held that the UnitedNationswas 
not competent to deal with the Algerian problem, which 
was covered by Article 2, paragraph 7, of the Charter 
of the United Nations. Spain. could not therefore en­
dorse an attitude which reflected a radically different 
interpretation of the Charter from its own. Despite 
Spain's sympathy for all suffering peoples, it was im­
mediately aware of the enormous damage being done 
to mankind and world peace by the violation of inter­
national laws and the substitution of violence for rea­
son and law. Moreover, there were more effective ways 
of dealing with the Algerian que.stion than those advo­
cated in draft resolution A/C.1/L.308 and Add.1. Ne­
gotiations between the French Government and the 
FLN had been initiated, broken off and resumed in one 



334 General Assembly- Sixteenth Session- First Committee 

form or another. In the preceedings, however, the 
positions of the parties had been reconciled to the 
point where there remained only two matters in dis• 
pute: the guarantees to be given to the Algerian in­
habitants of European origin and the protection of 
French and African interests in the Sahara. 

70. His delegation therefore earnestly hoped that the 
bilateral negotiations would be resumed and continued 
so that an end might be put as soon as possible to the 
sufferings of the Algerian inhabitants, both European 
and African, to which Spain was bound by ancient ties 
of blood, culture and history. It hoped for an end to 
violence and for reconciliation. 

71.· The draft resolution, despite the good intentions 
that had prompted it, expressed the differences of 
views among the members of the Committee. By re­
flecting only the basic position of one of the parties 
and ignoring the serious preoccupations of the other, 
the text was controversial. Moreover, if the Commit­
tee should attempt to modify it so as to eliminate its 
one-sidedness, it might end by substituting itself for 
the actual negotiators. Indeed, that was already hap­
pening, to judge by certain statements made in the 

Litho in U.N. 

Committee. His delegation of course agreed with the 
sponsors of the draft resolution that the negotiations 
should continue, but it could not approve the biased 
aspects of their text, such as the reference to General 
Assembly resolution 1514 (XV). The draft resolution 
also referred to the Provisional Government of the 
Algerian Republic, which the majority of states Mem­
bers of the United Nations had not recognized. There 
was, lastly, the matter of the phrase regarding the 
competence of the United Nations to deal with the 
issue, which a number of delegations had refused to 
acknowledge in the past. 

72. His delegation would therefore be una.Qle to vote 
in favour of the draft resolution, for it was convinced 
that such a text would do nothing to promote a suc­
cessful outcome of events, and in fact might well 
wound legitimate susceptibilities and so introduce a 
new element of discord into a problem which was 
already delicate. The Algerian tragedy was too griev­
ous for the Committee to risk jeopardizing its solu­
tion with a text which, though well intentioned, was 
extremely dangerous. 

The meeting rose at 6.45 p.m. 

771 01-May 1962-2.100 




